City of Seattle Request for Proposal #CTY- 3525
Coordinated Street Furniture Program

Addendum 

Dated 10/13/15

The following is additional information regarding Request for Proposal #CTY-3525, titled “Coordinated Street Furniture Program” released on 8/25/15.  The due date and time for responses will be revised to 11/30/15 @4:00PM (Pacific).  This addendum includes both questions from prospective proposers and the City’s answers, and revisions to the RFP.  This addendum is hereby made part of the RFP and therefore, the information contained herein shall be taken into consideration when preparing and submitting a proposal.
Questions may be asked until 10/22/15, 5 PM Pacific.

	Item #
	Date Received
	Date Answered
	Vendor’s Question
	City’s Answer
	RFP Revisions

	1
	9/2/15
	9/21/15
	Due to the complexity of the RFP and required capital expenditures, would the City consider a 4 week extension on the proposal deadline?
	Sealed proposals are due to the City by November 30 at 4:00 p.m. PST. Additional questions will be accepted until Wednesday October 21.
	

	2
	9/2/15
	9/21/15
	On page 5 of 29 of the RFP, under the “Advertising panels must meet these specifications” one of the bullet points indicates that the shelter “provide see-through visibility from at least two sides.”  Would the example on the attachment, with advertising panels on both sides of the shelter, conform with this request?
	Yes, the attachment meets this specification. See through visibility means either a way to physically pass through a side of the shelter, or be able to see through the material. The attached image is a shelter in San Francisco that has a two-sided ad panel at the leading end of the shelter and bus route information at the trailing end and would meet this specification. 
The second image is an example of a shelter that meets the specification without transit information.
	Attached image from question:
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Second example meeting specification without transit information.
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	3
	9/2/15
	9/21/15
	Can you provide copies of all proposals and/or letters of decline that were received by the City for RFP #3214?  If this needs to be done through a Public Disclosure request, please advise as to where that should be directed.
	Information about public disclosure requests can be found here: http://www.seattle.gov/public-disclosure

	

	4
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Can the vendor prioritize the installations based on highest revenue potential?
	Proposals may prioritize installation based on highest revenue potential as long as the financial assumptions relating to a particular installation prioritization are clearly stated, including the economic impact of altering the schedule. 

	

	5
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 1 of 29
At the pre-proposal conference Brian referenced a resolution or code that called for a 200 ft buffer from the shoreline to street furniture. Are there any other similar codes or resolutions that vendors should be aware of?
	Proposals should be aware of all City of Seattle, Washington State and Federal law that may affect installation and permitting. Some laws of note include:
· SMC Title 15

· Seattle Sign Code - http://www.seattle.gov/dpd/codesrules/codes/signs/default.htm  
· Seattle Shoreline Master Program – 23.60A

· Seattle Historic Districts, including Pike Place Market, Pioneer Square, International District – all three of which are excluded from the program area


	

	6
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 2 of 29
Considering that the final number, size and locations of the proposed advertising panels and the determination of which furniture elements will contain advertising is contingent on the approval of the Seattle City Council and amendments to the Seattle Municipal Code, will the financial proposal be allowed to be adjusted to reflect the actual available advertising inventory?
	Both the vendor and the City will need to agree to and execute a final contract, which will incorporate these contingencies.
	

	7
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 5 of 29.
The RFP indicates that the number of multifunctional kiosks to be installed is at the discretion of the proposer. Does that also mean the locations of the kiosks are also at the discretion of the proposer vs. being close to the 88 shelters?
	Yes, the locations of the kiosks are at the discretion of the proposer.
	

	8
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 7 of 29
This section states that “proposals should assume that power would be obtained from an independent source or purchased directly from Seattle City Light (via direct Vendor arrangement) and/or should account for construction of new electrical connections in collaboration with adjacent property owners”. Considering that the final approval of the placement of street furniture is given by the City of Seattle, will costs incurred by the Vendor related to power be reimbursed?
	No costs incurred by the vendor will be reimbursed by the City of Seattle. As stated on page 3 of the RFP “The Successful Proposer will bear all financial responsibility for delivering all aspects of the Coordinated Street Furniture Program to the City of Seattle, above and beyond guaranteed revenue and gross revenue sharing specified in the RFP”.
Proposals should assume all costs of providing power will be borne by the vendor.

	

	9
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 11 of 29
Would the City of Seattle consider an annual true-up instead of a quarterly true-up?
	It is an annual true-up. There is a quarterly cash-flowing of the revenue share, but always with a cumulative look-back to the beginning of the agreement year to reflect the annual true-up. See p. 11, Section 2.9, paragraphs 3 & 4.
	

	10
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 11 of 29
Can the City elaborate further on what they require in a cash flow analysis?  This is privately held information and while we believe the City should know what the estimated revenue and estimated capital will be, will this information alone be acceptable to the City as we do not wish it to become public?
	The City requires more than just revenue projections and capital budgets to properly evaluate the various proposals.

Cash flow statements do not need to be more detailed than what is called for in attachment B. “Income and cash flow statements, by month for the first two (2) years” may be expressed in the same categories – see revised attachment B to facilitate.

“Detailed assumptions included in the model” may be a narrative, or listing of what is included or assumptions used for each row of the cash flow such that it is clear what is included.

Particular proprietary material may exempt records in the cash flow section from disclosure. However, as stated on pages 22-23 of the RFP exemptions are narrow and explicit and are listed in Washington State Law (Reference RCW 42.56 and RCW 19.108). 

Proposers must be familiar with the Washington State Public Records Act and the limits of record disclosure exemptions. For more information, visit the Washington State Legislature’s website at http://www1.leg.wa.gov/LawsAndAgencyRules. 
If you believe any records you are submitting to the City as part of your proposal or contract work product are exempt from disclosure, you can request they not be released until you receive notification. To make that request, you must complete the appropriate portion of the Vendor Questionnaire (Non-Disclosure Request Section) and clearly and specifically identify each record and the exemption(s) that may apply. (If you are awarded a City contract, the same exemption designation will carry forward to the contract records.)

The City will not withhold materials from disclosure because you mark them with a document header or footer, page stamp, or a generic statement that a document is non-disclosable, exempt, confidential, proprietary, or protected. Do not identify an entire page as exempt unless each sentence is within the exemption scope; instead, identify paragraphs or sentences that meet the specific exemption criteria you cite in the Vendor Questionnaire. Only the specific records or portions of records properly listed on the Vendor Questionnaire will be protected and withheld for notice. All other records will be considered fully disclosable upon request. 

If the City receives a public disclosure request for any records you have properly and specifically listed on the Vendor Questionnaire, the City will notify you in writing of the request and postpone disclosure. While it is not a legal obligation, the City, as a courtesy, will allow you up to 10 business days to file a court injunction to prevent the City from releasing the records (reference RCW 42.56.540). If you fail to obtain a Court order within 10 days, the City may release the documents. 

The City will not assert an exemption from disclosure on your behalf. If a record is exempt from disclosure, you are obligated to clearly identify it as such on the Vendor Questionnaire and submit it with your proposal. Should a public records request be submitted to City Purchasing for that (those) record(s), you can then seek an injunction under RCW 42.56 to prevent release. By submitting a bid document, the proposer acknowledges this obligation; the proposer also acknowledges that the City will have no obligation or liability to the proposer if the records are disclosed.

If you have any questions about disclosure of the records you submit with the proposal, please contact the City Purchasing Buyer at (206) 684-0444. 


	

	11
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 11 of 29
Would the City of Seattle accept a cross-collateralized MAG across all media formats rather than as a per panel figure for each of the different media types?
	The RFP calls for a MAG expressed both as an aggregate amount, and broken down on a per panel basis. This will enable the overall MAG to be adjusted to reflect any changes to the anticipated inventory included in the signed contract. It will also allow the MAG to increase in line with the installation schedule.
	

	12
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 12 of 29
Would the City of Seattle consider waiving the requirement that the Proposer remove the Street Furniture at the Proposer’s sole expense as the removal would be directed by the City?
	No. The City needs assurance of restoration at the potential conclusion or decommissioning of the program. The City currently has no funding source to cover this potential cost.
	

	13
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 15 of 29
Can the City of Seattle provide more information in regard to the Liquidated Damages?  They were not in the attached contract.
	The final contract will outline the how liquidated damages are assessed. The City’s preferred approach will be consistent with WSDOT’s definition of liquidated damages in their 2014 Standard Specifications for Road, Bridge and Municipal Construction, page 1-79 where the Contract amount is in this case the total capital cost to procure and install the Coordinated Street Furniture Program. 
	

	14
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 15 of 29
For any expansion in scope of the project, would the City of Seattle be able to provide notice of such an expansion within 30-60 days prior to the expansion being executed?
	Yes. The City would provide a 60 day or less notice of expansion. Any contemplated expansion would also require a contract amendment.
	

	15
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 16 of 29.
How did the City come up with a $5 million Bond?  Will the City consider a lesser amount?
	The City will not consider a lesser amount. The number is associated with the potential effort that could be involved in assuming full responsibility for the program, and it’s decommission and associated restoration.
	

	16
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Page 17 of 29
The City is asking for a Letter of Commitment for 100% of the contract value.  Please define what contract value is here.  Will a corporate guarantee suffice in lieu of a Bond?
	The City is not requiring a bond or letter of commitment for 100% of the contract value. Instead a bond or letter of commitment for five million dollars ($5,000,000) is required. A corporate guarantee will not suffice in lieu of a bond.
	Page 17 the bullets under “letter of commitment” should read:
· This Letter of Commitment may be for a Contract Bond. The letter shall be from a qualified bond agency as specified above and shall confirm the willingness of the agency to provide a Contract Bond of five million dollars ($5,000,000) plus sales or use tax that meets the form and requirements of the City Bond Form, should the Vendor win the award.
· Alternatively, the City will accept a Letter of Commitment for a Letter of Credit. The Letter of Commitment shall be from a qualified Banking Institution as specified above, and confirm the willingness of the Banking Institution to provide a Letter of Credit in the amount of five million dollars ($5,000,000) plus sales or use tax, should the Vendor win the award.

	17
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Please confirm if the contract value means the annual guaranteed payment. If so, would the City of Seattle consider lowering the letter of credit/bond percentage from 100% to 25%-33% of contract to be in line with the current market for security for United States Transit Authorities?
	The City is not requiring a bond or letter of commitment for 100% of the contract value. Instead a bond or letter of commitment for five million dollars ($5,000,000) is required.
	

	18
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Will the City of Seattle allow for recoupment of capital expenditures spent on the project?
	It is the responsibility of the winning proposer to fund the capital expenditures of the program. Proposers should take into account their capital expenditure requirements when constructing their financial proposals.
	

	19
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Are WMBE goals based upon controllable expenses?
	WMBE goals are based only on total expenditures. No expenditures may be exempt in calculating fulfillment of WMBE goals. 
	

	20
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Can the City of Seattle provide a sample contract specific to the Street Furniture project?
	The City is working on developing a sample contract specific to the Coordinated Street Furniture RFP.
	

	21
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Would the City of Seattle be open to removing the requirement of a full cash flow analysis as we do not typically provide this level of detail in our bids?
	No, the requirement for a cash flow analysis will remain. 
Please see full answer to this issue in answer to question 10.   
	

	22
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Will you consider extending the proposal due date by 4 weeks?
	Answered in question 1
	

	23
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Can you clarify if the Shelters requiring the ability to see out of 2 sides would allow for advertising panels on both ends of the shelters?
	Ad panels are limited to a single two-sided panel located at the leading edge of the shelter (transit stop). The guidelines do not allow for advertising at both ends of a shelter
	On page 5 of the RFP, under “Shelters must meet the following specifications:” add the following bullet point: 
· Shelters are limited to a single two-sided panel located at the “flag” end of the transit stop
On page 6 of the RFP, under “Advertising panels must meet these specifications:” add the following bullet point:

· Shelters are limited to a single two-sided panel located at the “flag” end of the transit stop


	24
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Can the vendor prioritize the installations based on highest revenue potential? 
	Answered in question 4
	

	25
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	On page 6, it indicates a maximum Nits for Digital at 100.  According to industry experts, the minimum nits for night deployment should be 500, and 2,500 for daytime.

Will the City consider changing this requirement?
	The City will accept alternatives for this specification on the condition that a specific industry standard (available to the City) is cited, and, if available, contracts the proposer holds where this standard is applied are provided to the City.
	

	26
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	The industry standard flip for Digital is :8 seconds.  Will you consider changing the requirement from :15 per flip? 
	The City will accept alternatives for this specification on the condition that a specific industry standard (available to the City) is cited, and, if available, contracts the proposer holds where this standard is applied are provided to the City.
	

	27
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	What happens if the sign code modifications don’t occur, or aren’t in line with what proposals require such as the inclusion of digital?
	The final contract will take account of these contingencies. 
	

	28
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	As stated in the RFP, “the City reserves the right to add or remove elements during the contract, including adjustments to the program boundary…”  Will there be a limit on the potential changes, or what options (if any) can the vendor take to modify the terms of the contract?  The same question holds true with the potential impact of “appropriate City advisory boards and commissions” potentially impacting the proposed elements.
	The final contract will take account of the potential for changes to the anticipated program by City Council action, or actions by City Advisory Boards or Commissions.
	

	29
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	When does the proposed 15-year term begin given the timeline benchmarks above?
	From page 13 of the RFP: “The final contract shall include a clause setting the commencement date of the Term for the day on which the Seattle Mayor signs into law the Code changes required to implement the contract.”
	

	30
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	When is the MAG expected to begin:  1) when the sign code ordinance begins, 2) when the installations begin, or 3) when all of the amenities are fully installed?
	The MAG for each panel will begin when the panel is installed and ready to receive advertising copy. The Successful Proposer’s work schedule will be agreed with the City and attached to the signed contract. Liquidated damages will be paid by the operator for any delays in the work schedule. The details of the liquidated damages regime will be included in the sample contract.
	

	31
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	What attributes should the multifunctional information kiosks have?  Is there key information or interaction the City wishes to provide?
	The City wishes kiosks to have public benefit. There are many ways to provide public benefit to Seattle, some of which are noted in different parts of the RFP. This element is intended to provide vendors with flexibility and creativity
	

	32
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Does the 5% requirement of advertising panels being set aside for City use correspond to static displays only?
	Static panels must set aside 5% of all panels. Digital panels must set aside 6% of all messages on average such that if a digital panel has 8 rotating messages, 1 of them needs to be set aside every two panels. This public benefit is very important.
Set aside panels must be evenly distributed across the system such that no area of the program area is without set aside panels. The City and the vendor will agree in advance on appropriate locations for agreed upon periods, thus limiting changes from one period to the next.
	Page 6, fifth bullet under “ Advertising panels must meet these specifications:” amended to read: 
· On average, all digital advertising panels must provide 6% of the panels to be set aside for use at the discretion of the City of Seattle for community information such as public service announcements, public art, or non-profit use. For example if a typical panel loops 8 messages every 64 seconds, one-in-two panel loops must include one set-aside message.

To the extent that the City of Seattle is not using these ad panels the Successful Proposer will be able to use the panels for paid advertising with the prior written approval of the City. To the extent that the City of Seattle requires more than 6 percent at any time the Successful Proposer must provide the additional inventory on a space available basis.
· Set aside panels must be evenly distributed across the system such that no area of the program area is without set aside panels. The City and the vendor will agree in advance on appropriate locations for agreed upon periods, thus limiting changes from one period to the next.

	33
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	When requiring that one flip per loop on a digital display be reserved for City use, is there a pre-determined quantity of flips in the loop from your perspective?  Industry standard is 8 messages of 8 second each (64 seconds total), but your requirements indicate a minimum of 15 seconds (see question 5 above).
	The City will accept alternatives for seconds between flips specification on the condition that a specific industry standard (available to the City) is cited, and, if available, contracts the proposer holds where this standard is applied are provided to the City.
The City will require an average of 6% of all digital messages on average among all digital panels, evenly distributed across the program area. The City and the vendor will agree in advance on appropriate locations for agreed upon periods, thus limiting changes from one period to the next.

	

	34
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Can you share more about the Public Art aspect of the RFP?  Are these to be considered alongside or on top of the installations?  Is the vendor expected to provide this or what is the expectation?
	There is no specific requirement for a vendor to provide public art. However, the vendor will need coordinate and facilitate this type of installation either physically near or integrated into existing furniture or via advertising panels/messages.
This section calls for proposals to include how they would positively facilitate public art. It is an opportunity to show how a potential vendor can be a good partner in supporting public art in whatever way the proposals feels will create the greatest public benefit.
	

	35
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Would the City allow either new digital billboards or convert existing vinyl or roto-panel billboards to digital as part of this RFP to help fund the proposed amenities?
	No.
	

	36
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Could you lower the contract bond (performance and payment) or letter of credit required amount from $5,000,000 plus sales or use tax to $2,000,000 plus sales or use tax?
	The City will not consider a lesser amount. The number is associated with the potential effort that could be involved in assuming full responsibility for the program, and it’s decommission and associated restoration.
	

	37
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Revenue share is stated to be based on invoiced gross revenues but will you allow the following items to be excluded from invoiced gross revenues?

a. Advertising agency commission fees or discounts, not to exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the rate assessed the advertiser

b. The amounts of any Federal, State, County or municipal sales taxes or other similar taxes separately stated and collected from customers

c. Amounts paid by us or advertisers in connection with design, fabrication or installation or removal or any advertiser’s displays or graphics to such charges for displays or graphics that are displays as long as they are separately stated

In-kind or non-cash provision of products or services to City from our marketing income clients
	These issues will be addressed in the sample contract. Proposals should mark-up any requested amendments to relevant provision in the sample contract, and separately note the terms that have been assumed in the applicable financial proposal.
In-kind or non-cash products or services should be accounted for as gross revenue, not excluded.
	

	38
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Will liquidated damages still be assessed if committed work schedule is due delays as a result of documented conditions beyond our control?
	No, provided the delays are beyond the reasonable control of the vendor. Whether or not the delay is beyond the reasonable control of the vendor will be determined by the City in its sole discretion. The details of the liquidated damages regime will be included in the sample contract.
	

	39
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	RFP notes a minimum of five (5) percent of all advertising panels must be set aside for use at the discretion of the City of Seattle for community information such as public service announcements, public art, or non-profit use. To the extent that the City of Seattle is not using these ad panels, will the Successful Proposer will be able to use the panels with the approval of the City?
	The RFP was clear on this point. See page 11, first bullet point: “To the extent that the City of Seattle is not using these ad panels the Successful Proposer will be able to use the panels with the approval of the City”.
	

	40
	9/2/15
	10/13/15
	Does this mean the City of Seattle selects which locations you want the panels to be on and only if you decide not to use them only then we could use them for advertising? Or could we select which locations we put the City of Seattle community information on at our discretion as long it meets 5% requirement at any one time meaning advertising panels with City of Seattle community information will likely be at different locations on different panels from one period to the next?
	Set-aside, community information panels/messages should be evenly spread across the program area. The City and the vendor will agree in advance on appropriate locations for agreed upon periods, thus limiting changes from one period to the next.
	

	41
	10/12/15
	10/123/15
	Will the City allow more time for proposers to provide questions after the addenda is posted?
	The City will re-open the question period until 10/22/15, 5 PM Pacific.
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